ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 The Circuit Court erred in quashing the validly issued subpoena and awarding 

attorney fees as written objections were not lodged within 14 days after service of the 

subpoena as required by W. Va. R. Civ. P. 45(d)(2)(B). 

II. 	 It was error for the Circuit Court to grant the Motion to Quash, which included an 

award ofattorney fees, without allowing Kahle an opportunity to respond. 

III. 	 With regards to the first request, the Circuit Court erred in quashing the validly issued 

subpoena as nothing in the W. Va. R. Civ. P. requires a litigant to rely solely on 

discovery obtained from an adversary instead ofutilizing a subpoena. 

N. 	 With regards to the remaining requests, the Circuit Court erred in granting the Motion 

to Quash as the infonnation sought was both relevant and necessary and as Shutler 

failed to demonstrate that the infonnation sought was a trade secret, that it would be 

damaged by the disclosure, or that the request was unduly burdensome 

V. 	 Regardless of which standard is used, it was error to grant attorney fees as the 

requests at issue were within the boundaries of pennissible discovery, was 

reasonable, and was served in good faith and not for some improper purpose and 

because Kahle actions were not vexatious, wanton, oppressive, or made in bad faith. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Kahle's Kitchens, Inc. [hereinafter "Kahle" or "Petitioner"] is currently involved in 

litigation styled Kahle's Kitchens, Inc., v. Distributor Services, Inc., Civ. Act. No. 2013-1276 (Court 

of Common Pleas, Clarion County, Pennsylvania) [hereinafter "Pennsylvania action"]. This appeal 

stems from a subpoena issued by that court. The validly issued subpoena seeks discovery from a 

potential witness, Shutler Cabinets, Inc. [hereinafter "Shutler" or "Respondent"]. The 
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infonnation sought by the subpoena is both relevant and necessary to the Pennsylvania action as 

it goes to refute a defense raised by Distributor Services, Inc. [hereinafter "DSr']. 

As asserted in the Pennsylvania action, from December, 2011 through June, 2012, Kahle 

purchased wood from DSI; it was later detennined that this wood and only the' wood purchased 

from DSI contained wood boring insects. DSI has asserted that the wood boring insects came from 

Kahle's facility. In support of this defense, DSI has communicated with Shutler, who received 

wood from the same shipment as Kahle. DSI Claims that Shutler advised it has not had an 

infestation. (J.A. 117). At this time, Shutler has provided no evidence to support this assertion, other 

than a self-serving affidavit. Currently, principals of Shutler have been listed as potential witnesses 

in the underlying Pennsylvania action. (J.A. 118). Given DSI's reliance on the representations of 

Shutler for its defense, Kahle sought the issuance of an out-of-state subpoena and was granted the 

same by the Pennsylvania Court. (lA. 005). 

On April 1, 2016, Kahle filed a Petition for Deposition and Subpoena Duces Tecum in 

Aid ofOut-of-State Litigation Pursuant to Rule 28(d) [hereinafter "Petition"]. (J.A. 002-13). The 

Petition sought to enforce the properly issued out of state subpoena. On or about April 27, 2016, 

Shutler filed a Combined Response in Opposition to Petition for Deposition and Subpoena Duces 

Tecum in Aid ofOut-of-State Litigation Pursuant to Rule 28(d) and Motion to Quash [hereinafter 

"Motion to Quash"]. (J.A. 014-25). 

On May 2, 2016 - five days after Shutler filed the Motion to Quash and without affording 

Kahle the opportunity to respond - the Circuit Court of Marshall County granted Shutler's 

motion, awarded attorney's fees and costs, and denied the relief sought in Kahle's Petition. (J.A. 

026-7). 
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On or about May 10,2016, Kahle filed Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment 

[hereinafter "Motion to Amend'']. (J.A. 029-41). On or about May 11, 2016, Respondent filed 

Shutler Cabinets, Inc. 's Response in Opposition to Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend 

[hereinafter "Response to Motion to Amend"]. (J.A. 042-91). On July 11, 2016, the Circuit Court 

entered the Order Denying Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. (J.A. 132-54).1 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

"Discovery disputes that must be resolved by the circuit court are addressed to the circuit 

court's sound discretion, and the circuit court's order will not be disturbed upon appeal unless 

there has been an abuse of that discretion. Syl. pt. 1, in part, Evans v. Mut. Min., 199 W. Va. 526, 

485 S.E.2d 695 (1997) holding modified by State v. Nichols, 208 W. Va. 432, 541 S.E.2d 310 

(1999). "A trial court abuses its discretion when its rulings on discovery motions are clearly 

against the logic of the circumstances then before the court and so arbitrary and unreasonable as 

to shock our sense ofjustice and to indicate a lack of careful consideration." B.F. Specialty Co. v. 

Charles M Sledd Co., 197 W. Va. 463, 464, 475 S.E.2d 555, 556 (1996). Further, "a circuit 

court necessarily abuses its discretion if it bases its ruling on an erroneous assessment of the 

evidence or an erroneous view of the law." Beto v. Stewart, 213 W. Va. 355,359-60,582 S.E.2d 

802,806--07 (2003) (citations omitted). 

This Honorable Court's review of an award of attorney fees and costs "falls within 

certain well-established principles .... 'As a general rule each litigant bears his or her own 

attorney's fees absent a contrary rule of court or express statutory or contractual authority for 

1 On July 20,2016, Kahle's filed a Notice ofAppeal; the case number was 16-0696. On August 11,2016, Shutler 
filed a Motion to Dismiss Interlocutory Appeal. After filing a response to the motion, this Honorable Court 
dismissed the appeal as interlocutory on September 14,2016. Thereafter, a hearing was held on November 18, 2016, 
to determine the amount of attorney fees to award pursuant to the May 2, 2016, Order granting the motion to quash 
and awarding attorney fees. 
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reimbursement.'" Murthy v. Karpacs-Brown, 237 W. Va. 490, 788 S.E.2d 18, 25 (2016) 

(citations omitted). "[S]anctions are reviewable under an abuse of discretion standard, 'but it is 

clear that a circuit court necessarily abuses its discretion if it bases its ruling on an erroneous 

assessment of the evidence or an erroneous view of the law.'" Murthy, 237 W. Va. 490, 788 

S.E.2d 18, 25 (2016)(citing to Cox v. State, 194 W.Va. 210, 218 n. 3, 460 S.E.2d 25, 33 n. 3 

(1995) (Cleckley, F., concurring». 

In the case at bar, the Circuit Court's holdings was clearly an abuse of discretion. For 

instance, the Circuit Court did not even provide Kahle an opportunity to challenge the evidence 

presented in the Motion to Quash; specifically, it granted the motion and awarded attorney fees 

five days and less than three business days after the same was filed. Further, the Circuit Court 

clearly erred in finding that the subpoena was not properly issued by the Pennsylvania court, 

despite the fact that it was provided two certified copies of the same. 

With regards to the first request, the Circuit Court erred when it erroneously found that 

under West Virginia law, discovery is precluded when it can be obtained from another source. 

There is nothing in the W. Va. R. Civ. P. that supports this conclusion and is directly contrary to 

the cases it cites for this proposition. 

With regards to the second request - which requested information about customers who 

received products containing wood from DSI for a one year period - the Circuit Court erred in 

finding that this information was not relevant and necessary. Further, it erred in finding that 

Shutler had presented enough information to determine whether the information sought was a 

trade secret2 or that it would suffer any injury from its disclosure. Further, it was error to find 

2 Whether customer lists are trade secrets is a question of law reviewed de novo. Guy Carpenter & Co. v. 
Provenza/e, 334 F.3d 459, 468 (5th eir. 2003) (citations omitted). 
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that disclosure of the same would be unduly burdensome as no evidence was presented that 

would support that its disclosure would be too costly to produce. 

With regards to the third and fourth requests, the Circuit Court erred as Kahle 

demonstrated that the information sought was relevant and necessary. Further Shutler 

fundamentally failed to present any evidence that would suggest that this information was either 

a trade secret or that disclosure of the same would be unduly burdensome. 

While this Honorable Court has never addressed sanctions pursuant to Rule 45(d)(l), no 

matter which standard is used, it was error to award attorney fees as the subpoena was within the 

boundaries of permissible discovery and as Kahle's action were not vexatious, wanton, 

oppressive, or made in bad faith. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioner believes that Rule 19 oral argument is appropriate in this case given 

Petitioner's assignments of error. It is Petitioner's position that the Circuit Court failed to apply 

settled law to the facts of the case and instead found in favor ofRespondent against the weight of 

the evidence. This case is appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition by memorandum 

decision. 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Circuit Court Erred In Quashing A Validly Issued Subpoena 

Kahle sought the issuance of a subpoena requesting the following information: 

1. Any and all documents and/or other tangible items that 
refer, relate to or evidence in any way, shipments of any products 
received from Distributor Services, Inc., its subsidiaries, affiliates 
or assigns from September 1,2011 through September 1,2012. 

2. Any and all documents and/or other tangible items that 
refer, relate to, or evidence in any way, any orders or projects 
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installed and/or completed by Shutler Cabinets, its subsidiaries, 
affiliates, contractors, agents, customers and/or assigns, between 
September 1, 2011 and September 1, 2012, including the name and 
address of the customers. 

3. Any and all documents and/or other tangible items that 
refer, relate to, or evidence in any way, the presence of wood 
boring insects or other similar pests at Shutler Cabinets or at any of 
the installed and/or completed orders or projects identified in 
response to No.2, above. 

4. Any and all documents and/or other tangible items that 
refer, relate to or evidence in any way, communications, electronic 
or otherwise, between Shutler Cabinets and any customers 
identified in response to No.2, above, and/or Distributor Services, 
Inc. regarding wood boring insects or other similar pests, or that 
otherwise relates to this litigation, from September 1, 2011 to the 
present. 

(J.A.005). Contrary to the assertion in the July 11, 2016, Order, (J.A. 145), Kahle agreed to limit 

this discovery in several ways. Kahle was agreeable to a confidentiality agreement and/or 

protective order and that it would refrain from marketing/selling to Shutler's customer. (J.A. 

031). Kahle plainly stated that it was willing to limit the subpoena to customers who received 

cabinets containing wood received from DSI. (J.A. 036). Kahle agreed to limit the requests to a 

one year period of time. (J.A. 034). In fact, Kahle was agreeable to discuss any other conditions 

Shutler would request. (J.A. 031). However, Shutler plainly stated that it would only provide a 

signed affidavit that indicated that it had no infestation of wood boring insects and would not 

address any further conditions. The stated reason for the refusal to comply with the requests was 

the fear of potential litigation, (J.A. 032; J.A. 045), which is an improper objection under the R. 

Civ. P. 

In summary, the Circuit Court granted the Motion to Quash - five days and less than 

three business days after Shutler's motion was filed - and further denied the relief sought in the 
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Motion to Amend because it found that the requests sought the production of trade secrets and 

further that the requests were unduly burdensome. 

With regards to a motion to quash a subpoena that seeks the production of trade secrets, 

the burden is on the movant to establish that the documents sought are a trade secret and "the 

harm associated with its disclosure." In re C.R. Bard, Inc. Pelvic Repair Sys. Prod. Liab. Litig., 

2014 WL 1660386, at *4 (S.D.W. Va. Apr. 22, 2014) (citing Deford v. Schmid Prods. Co., 120 

F.R.D. 648, 653 (D.Md.1987)); Franklin D. Cleckley, Robin Jean Davis, & Louis J. Palmer, Jr., 

Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules ofCivil Procedure § 45(d)(3)(B)[2][a], 1066 (4th ed. 

2012); see also AT&T Commc'ns of W Virginia, Inc. v. Pub. Servo Comm'n of W Virginia, 188 

W. Va. 250, 252-3, 423 S.E.2d 859, 861-2 (1992) (finding that in order to be granted a protective 

order pursuant to Rule 26( c), the movant is required to "make a 'particular and specific 

demonstration of fact' as to how they will be injured by the disclosure.") (citations omitted). If 

the movant satisfies the burden, then the non-moving party must establish "that the requested 

information is relevant and necessary." Cleckley, et. al., supra. The court must then "balance the 

need for the trade secrets against the claim of injury resulting from disclosure." Id. 

Importantly, "[a] movant who seeks to withhold information under the rule must provide 

a sufficient description of the nature of the documents, communications, or things not produced 

so as to enable the demanding party to contest the claim." Cleckley, et. al., supra at 1066 (citing 

Transcor, Inc. v. Furney Charters, Inc., 212 F.R.D. 588 (D.Kan. 2003)); see also Charles Alan 

Wright, et. al., 9A Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 2463.1 (3d ed.) (stating that the movant "cannot rely 

on a mere assertion that compliance would be burdensome and onerous without showing the 

manner and extent of the burden and the injurious consequences of insisting upon compliance 

with the subpoena."). 
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"In dicta it has been said that '[o]rders forbidding any disclosure of trade secrets or 

confidential commercial infonnation are rare. More commonly, the trial court will enter a protective 

order restricting disclosure to counselor to the parties." Cleckley, et. al., supra at 1066, n.470 

(citations omitted). 

This Honorable Court has set forth factors to consider in detennining whether a discovery 

request is unduly burdensome: 

Where a claim is made that a discovery request is unduly 
burdensome ... the trial court should consider several factors. First, a 
court should weigh the requesting party's need to obtain the 
infonnation against the burden that producing the infonnation places 
on the opposing party. This requires an analysis of the issues in the 
case, the amount in controversy, and the resources of the parties. 
Secondly, the opposing party has the obligation to show why the 
discovery is burdensome unless, in light of the issues, the discovery 
request is oppressive on its face. Finally, the court must consider the 
relevancy and materiality of the information sought. 

Syl. Pt. 3 in part, State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Stephens, 188 W.Va. 622, 425 S.E.2d 577 

(1992). 

The party moving to quash a subpoena carries a heavy burden of 
proving that the subpoena is unreasonable or oppressive. The 
quashing of a subpoena is an extraordinary measure, and is usually 
inappropriate absent extraordinary circumstances. A court 
should be loathed to quash a subpoena ifother protection of less 
absolute character is possible. That is, a court should refrain 
from quashing a subpoena if undue burden can be avoided 
through modification. 

Cleckley, et. al., supra at 1066 (emphasis added); see also Heat & Control, Inc. v. Hester Indus., 

Inc., 785 F.2d 1017, 1025 (Fed. Cir. 1986) (stating that "[w]hen a court is confronted with a 

motion to quash, its duty is not to deny discovery altogether, but to reduce the demand to a 

reasonable level, considering the parties' concerns.") (citations omitted). 
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A. The Circuit Court Erred In Granting The Motion To Quash As Respondent 
Failed To Timely Object Or, In The Alternative, Waived Its Objection 

W. Va R. Civ. P. 45(d)(2)(B) provides that a party "commanded to produce and pennit 

inspection and copying may, within 14 days after service of the subpoena ... serve upon the party 

or attorney designated in the subpoena written objection to inspection or copying ofany or all of the 

designated materials ... .eJ" Id. In the case at bar, the Petition was served on April 8, 2016. (J.A. 

001). Nineteen (19) days later, on April 27, 2016, Respondent :filed the Motion to Quash. As no 

written objections were served as required by the Rule 45(d)(2)(B), Shutler waived its objections 

to the Petition.4 

Even assuming that Shutler did not waive its objection, it affirmatively pled that it was 

willing to provide an affidavit "stating that it had never experienced and had never been 

informed of any issue with wood boring insects[.]" (J.A. 016). Said another way, Shutler stated 

that it was willing to answer the subpoena, albeit in the manner that it felt was responsive. 

Clearly, a party can waive the requirements of Rule 45. See In re Fannie Mae Sec. Litig., 552 

F.3d 814, 821-2 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (subpoena recipient waived claim that court had duty to protect 

it from undue burden by entering into stipulation order requiring compliance with subpoenas); 

Sanders v. Ethicon, Inc., 2015 WL 1781572, at *2 n.3 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 16,2015) (indication in a 

pleading that party waived the 100 mile subpoena limitation set forth in Rule 45(c)(1)(A) of the 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure acted as a waiver of the rule). Kalne does not dispute that 

Shutler still objected to the subpoena, but by offering and then subsequently submitting the 

3 The rule does further state that an objection can be served "before the time specified for compliance if such time is 
less than 14 days after service ...." W. Va. R. Civ. P. 45(d)(2)(B). However, the subpoena at issue specified that 
compliance was twenty days. Consequently, this provision of the rule is inapplicable. 
4 While counsel for Shutler did contact the undersigned within the fourteen day period, Rule 45(d)(2)(B) requires 
written objections to be served. See, contra Cleckley, et. al., supra at 1059-60 (footnotes omitted). 
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affidavit as an answer to the same, Shutler waived its arguments regarding the information 

sought by the subpoena. 

B. The Subpoena was Properly Issued by the Pennsylvania Court 

In its findings of fact, the Circuit Court found that the subpoena that was not properly 

issued by the Pennsylvania Court. (J.A. 146). The Circuit Court's finding is troubling as it 

completely disregards the fact that the Circuit Court was presented with two certified subpoenas. 

(J.A. 005-6; 103-4). Based upon the undisputed evidence presented to it, this ruling has no 

factual support. 

C. With Regards To The First Request, The Rules Of Civil Procedure Do Not 
Automatically Shield A Party From Discovery Even If Evidence Is Available From 
Another Party Or Source 

The first category in the subpoena sought shipping documents received from DSI. 

Respondent made no argument that the information sought herein was unduly burdensome, 

privileged, overly broad, or irrelevant to the Pennsylvania action. In fact, the totality of 

Respondent's arguments in the Motion to Quash - which Kahle was not provided an opportunity 

to respond - is that the documents are obtainable from DSI. (l.A. 018-9). The Circuit Court 

agreed, and therefore granted the Motion to Quash. (J.A. 026-7, 149-50). 

However, simply because information can be obtained from another source does not 

preclude discovery.5 Covey Oil Co. v. Cont'l Oil Co., 340 F.2d 993, 998 (10th Cir. 1965) 

(holding that the fact that evidence sought by subpoena duces tecum might be obtained from 

others has no pertinence in determining whether to issue "because a person may not avoid a 

5 "Traditionally, this Court has utilized decisions of federal courts when interpreting and applying our Rules ofCivil 
Procedure." Kiser v. Caudill, 215 W.Va. 403,410 n. 4, 599 S.E.2d 826, 833 n.4 (2004) (citations omitted); Lawyer 
Disciplinary Bd. v. Cunningham, 195 W.Va. 27,33 n. 11,464 S.E.2d 181, 187 n. 11 (1995)("[W]e follow our usual 
practice of giving substantial weight to federal cases in determining the meaning and scope of our rules of civil 
procedure.") (citation omitted». 
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subpoena by saying that the evidence sought from him is obtainable from another.") overruled 

on other grounds FTC v. Alaska Land Leasing, Inc., 778 F.2d 577, 578 (10th Cir.1985); Software 

Rights Archive, ILC v. Google Inc., 2009 WL 1438249, *2 (D. Del. 2009), quoting Viacom 

Intern., Inc. v. YouTube, Inc., 2008 WL 3876142, *2 (N.D. Cal. 2008) (finding that "where a 

party requests documents from a non-party that are likely to be in the possession of an opposing 

party, production of documents is appropriate where those documents constitute a 'non-well

defined set' 'whose completeness is not readily verifiable.' . . . By . . . allowing for discovery 

from both the party and non-party, completeness of discovery is more likely to be achieved. "); 

State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Accurate Med., P.e., 2007 WL 2993840, at *1 (E.D.N.Y.

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