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

Argument 

I. 	 The Circuit Court Correctly Granted Relief To The Respondent, Shutler, by Denying 
Kahle's Petition And Quashing The Subpoena 

Kahle's arguments do not strictly follow its assignments of error. For convenience and 

ease ofreading, Shutler will respond to the arguments as they are presented in the body ofKahle's 

appeal brief. 

A. 	 Shutler timely filed its response and motion to quash the subpoena within 20 days as 
provided under Rule 12 

Shutler filed its response to Kahle's petition and its !potion to quash within 19 days. 

Kahle's insists that, under Rule 45(d)(2)(B), any objection had to be filed within 14 days. 

Kahle's argument is clearly misguided. The 14-day time period prescribed under Rule 45 

applies to subpoenas that have been validly issued and served. In this case, the whole point of 

Kahle's miscellaneous proceeding was to have the circuit court issue an order authorizing it to 

serve a Pennsylvania subpoena on a West Virginia resident. JA 3 ("Petitioneris therefore required 

to request this petition so that it may seek the issuance of a subpoena duces tecum from a court of 

general jurisdiction of the State of West Virginia, having in personam jurisdiction over 
J 

Respondent ...."). 

Rule 12, ofcourse, provides that "[a] defendant shall serve an answer within 20 days ofthe 

service of the summons." Consistent with Rule 12, the summons issued by the circuit court 

required a response to Kahle's petition within 20 days. The subpoena itself also purported to give 

a 20-day time frame for responding. JA 5. Ironically, the cover letter from Kahle's stated that the 

petition would be dismissed if Shutler voluntarily complied within 30 days. JA 57. Clearly, then, 

by filing within 19 days, Shutler's response and motion were timely. 
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Kahle's also implies that "by offering and then subsequently sUbmitting the affidavit as an 

answer to the same, Shutler waived its arguments regarding the information sought by the 

subpoena." Petitioner's Brief, at 9-10. But the cases cited by Kahle's deal with situations where 

the subpoenaed party has knowingly made a fomlal, written waiver. The mere fact that Shutler 

offered to prepare an affidavit in lieu of responding to a subpoena is not, by any stretch, a waiver 

of the right to object to that subpoena. 

B. The subpoena was technically deficient 

Kahle's also complains that the circuit court made the following factual finding: 

"Kahle's has failed to produce any evidence that the subpoena to 
Shutler it represents it obtained from the Prothonotary of Clarion 
County, Pennsylvania, was sanctioned by the Court ofCommons Pleas 
of Clarion County or was anything other than a pro forma request to 
the Prothonotary for issuance of a subpoena by a party litigant." 

JA 146. 

Under 42 Pa. CSA § 5325(a)(3), an out-of-state deposition to obtain testimony, documents, 

or things can only be taken "pursuant to a letter rogatory issued by the court." As the circuit court 

correctly noted, the subpoena attached to Kahle's petition appeared to have been issued and signed 

by a prothonotary. However, there was no order, letter rogatory, or any other indication that the 

subpoena had been authorized by ajudicial officer as required by § 5325. If anything is "troubling" 

here, Petitioner's Brief at 10, it is the fact that Kahle's did not follow the procedures mandated by 

Pennsylvania law. 
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C. 	 The circuit court correctly quashed the first branch ofthe subpoena because the exact 
same documents were available from the original source and Kahle's made no 
argument that the documents were unavailable or incomplete 

It should be emphasized again that the first branch of the subpoena seeks DSI's shipping 

documents. DSI, of course, is a party to the Pennsylvania litigation, arid Kahle's has free access 

to all of the discovery devices available under the Rules of Civil Procedure. Kahle's never says 

that the shipping documents are not obtainable directly from DSI--or, for that matter, that they 

have not been obtained already through discovery or otherwise. Furthermore, Kahle's never says 

that DSI's documents are incomplete or in any way suspect. Instead, Kahle's insists that "sinlply 

because information can be obtained from another source does not preclude discovery." 

Petitioner's Brief, at 10. 

But Rule 26 directly contradicts this assertion. Under Rule 26(b)(1 )(A), a court is expressly 

empowered to limit discovery where the information sought "is obtainable-from some source that 

is more convenient, less burdensome, or less expensive." The circuit court found it was 

unreasonable to burden Shutler with a subpoena for records that are readily available from a party 

litigant, concluding: 

If Kahle's has questions regarding the sufficiency and completeness 
of information produced by Distributor Services, Inc. in response to 
discovery requests in the Pennsylvania litigation, that is an issue to 
raise with the Court of Commons Pleas of Clarion County, 
Pennsylvania, and not with the Circuit Court of Marshall County, 
West Virginia, by petitioning the Circuit Court of Marshall County, 
West Virginia, to compel athird party West Virginia business to 
produce its proprietary business and commercial records to Kahle's, 
its competitor. 

JA 141. 

Even the cases cited by Kahle's recognize that, when documents are in an opposing party's 

possession, resort to a third-party subpoena is proper only in limited circumstances. See, e.g., 
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Viacom Int'l, Inc. v. YouTube, Inc., 2008 WL 3876142 (N.D. Cal. 2008)(subpoena to a third party 

may be justified where the documents are "a non-well-defined set whose completeness is not 

readily verifiable"); Visto Corp. v. Smartner Info. Sys., Ltd., 2007 WL 218771 (N.D. Cal. 

2007)(appropriate circumstances exist for a third-party subpoena where there is "reason to believe 

that the files of the third party may contain different versions of documents, additional material, 

or perhaps, significant omissions"). Having cited these cases, Kahle's still makes no effort to prove 

facts that would trigger one of the exceptions. 

In the end, Kahle's makes no attempt to explain why subpoenaing DSI's records from a 

nonparty is reasonable or necessary when a party, DSI, has them in its possession. When coupled 

with the branch ofthe subpoena demanding produCtion of Shutler's customer list, it becomes clear 

that Kahle's true motivation is harassing one of its business competitors and not conducting 

legitimate discovery. 

D. 	 The circuit court correctly quashed the second branch ofthe subpoena because it was 
facially overbroad, unduly burdensome, and invaded proprietary customer information 

Next, Kahle's argues that the circuit court erred by quashing the subpoena insofar as it 

sought production of Shutler's customer list and other documents relating to its proj ects. 

First, Kahle's makes a strawman argument. According to Kahle's, "there is no blanket 

prohibition on the discovery of customer lists." Petitioner's Brief, at 12. That may be true, but it 

is equally true that customer lists are entitled to protection under West Virginia law. See, e.g., 

State ex reI. State Farm Mut. Automobile ins. Co. v. Cramer, 237 W.Va. 60, 785 S.;E.2d257 

(20 16)(in a bad faith case, an insured was not entitled to discover names, addresses, and telephone 

numbers of nonparty insureds); State ex reI. West Virginia Fire & Cas. Co. v. Karl, 202 W.Va. 

471,505 S.E.2d 210 (1998)(same); Helms Boys, Inc v. Brady, 171 W:Va. 66,297 S.E.2d 840 
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(1982)(an employer has a protectable interest in a customer list because of its "confidential 

nature,,).l Furthermore, the danger of producing confidential information, including customer 

lists, is magnified all the more when it is a competitor who is demanding production. Cleckley, 

Davis & Palmer, Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules o/Civil Procedure, 

§45( d)(3)(B)[2] [a J. 

" Here, Shutler clearly demonstrated that its customer list is confidential. The affidavit 

provided by Shutler's president notes that Shutler values its business relationship with its 

customers and considers "the" names and addresses of its customers to be personal and private 

information." Furthermore, Shutler also considers work orders, diagrams, invoices, and other 

project-related papers to be private and confidential. Shutler has no authority from its customers 

to disclose any of this information to third parties. Because Shutler considers all of this to be 

confidential and proprietary commercial information, it "takes all steps necessary to protect the 

same from disclosure to third parties." JA 61. 

Kahle's complains this is not enough, and that Shutler has not met its burden of proving 

the confidential nature of its customer list. In fact, Kahle's suggests that because some of 

Shutler's customers could be identified, say, from" testimonials on its website or "by simply 

following its delivery trucks," its customer list is simply not worthy of protection. Petitioner's 

Brief, at 16. 

This argument borders on the absurd. Shutler is a small business that has grown through 

the years as a result of hard work and dedication to its craft and to its customers. The resulting 

customer list is a valuable and protected business property. Shutler's affidavit and common sense 

J In this regard, it should be noted that State ex reI. Arrow Concrete Co. v. Hill, 194 W.Va. 239, 460 S.E.2d 
54 (1995), was" an antitrust case involving two business competitors. The customer list was, therefore, relevant and 
was being provided by an actual party,to the litigation. Contrary to Kahle's contention, Hill has no relevance to the 
issue presented here. 
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are more than enough to prove that the identity of its customers is confidential and, therefore, 

worthy of protection under Rule 45. See, e.g., American Ice Co. v. Royal Petroleum Corp., 261 

F.2d 365 (3Td Cir. 1958)(customer lists are confidential and entitled to protection as trade secrets); 

BIEC Int'l v. Global Steel Serv., Ltd., 791 F.Supp. 489,545 (E.D. Pa. 1992)("Inmany businesses, 

permanent and exclusive relationships are established between customers and salesmen. The 

customer lists and customer information which have been compiled by such fIrms represent 8; 

material investment of employers' time and money. This information is highly confIdential and 

constitutes a valuable asset. Such data has been held to be property in the nature ofa 'trade secret' 

for which an employer is entitled to protection, independent of a nondisclosure contract, either 

under the law of agency, or under the law of unfair trade practices.") So, too, the papers relating 

to individual customer projects, including work orders, diagrams, invoices, and the like, are 

entitled to protection. 

It is worth mentioning at this point that Kahle's says its subpoena did not go beyond the 

names and addresses of Shutler's customers. Indeed, Kahle's chides the circuit court for 

discussing other records relating to its installation projects. Petitioner's Brief, at 14-15. But 

Kahle's refuses to acknowledge the broad, almost unlimited scope of its subpoena. The second 

branch of the subpoena covers "any and all documents ... that refer, relate to, or evidence in any 

way, any order or project installed andlor completed by Shutler" for a one year period, "including 

the names and addresses ofthe customers." JA 5. Kahle's may be experiencing remorse at having 

written its subpoena so broadly, but the fact remains that it requested far, far more than Shutler's 

customer list. 

Next, Kallle's insists that it proved the customer list and other papers were relevant and 

necessary for its defense of the Pennsylvania litigation. It is here that Kahle's makes its agenda 
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plain: because Shutler has not contacted its customers regarding any possible infestation, Kahle's 

intends to do so. But Kahle's entire argument is a house of cards. The most Kahle's can say is 

that "Shutler's customers mayor could have an infestation." Petitioner's Brief, at 18-19 

(emphasis added). This is really the crux of the matter. Shutler has never received a report ofan 

infestation from any of its customers. Kahle's has no proofthat any infestation actually occurred. 

Nevertheless, Kahle's believes it can force Shutler to disclose the "identities of its customers so 

Kahle's can contact them for itself. This is not an attempt to gather relevant and necess~ proof. 

It is a fishing expedition. But more than that, it is a fishing expedition that would cause Shutler 

to suffer very real harm. 

Kahle's disagrees, arguing that Shutler failed to prove the harm it would suffer. But 

requiring the production ofthe customer list would, in fact, result in three distinct harms that are 

abundantly clear from the record. First, it would release proprietary business information to a 

direct competitor. "Disclosure to a competitor is presumptively more harmful than disclosure to 

a noncompetitor." Cleckley, Davis & Palmer, id. Second, the customer list, when combined with 

DSI's shipping records, would give Kahle's the ability to reconstruct Shutler's business model-

a harmful, unfair business advantage. Third, Kahle's has made clear its intention to make direct 

contact with Shutler's customers regarding the infestation issues. In other words, the customer 

list is not an end in itself but a means to another, more sinister end. Contacting Shutler's 

customers and raising the specter of a "possible" infestation without any proof whatsoever will 

unnecessarily damage Shutler's credibility with its customers and its reputation generally. The 

circuit court was absolutely correct in finding that production of the customer list would be 

hapnful to Shutler. 
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Finally, Kahle's argues that a protective order would have been a more appropriate form 

of relief than an order quashing the subpoena. But the truth is that a protective order would not 

do anything to ameliorate the harm. If a protective order were issued, Shutler's competitor, 

Kahle's, would still be in possession of its customer list. Worse yet, Kahle's would still be 

perfectly free to contact those customers and interfere with Shutler's ongoing business 

relationship. The circuit court correctly concluded that Shutler could only be protected by means 

of an order quashing the subpoena. 

E. The circuit court correctly quashed the third and fourth branches 

The third branch ofthe subpoena seeks copies of all documents evidencing the presence of 

wood boring insects at Shutler's facility or at any of its projects. The fourth branch seeks all 

communications relating to wood boring insects. Kahle's complains that the circuit court erred by 

quashing these parts of its subpoena. 

To begin with, the court recognized that these two branches were, in fact, mooted by the 

affidavit filed by Shutler's president. JA 151. David Shutler testified by affidavit that during the 

31-year history ofthe business there had never been an incident involving a wood'boring insect on 

the business premises. More than that, Shutler had never received any complaints ofwood boring 

insects from any of its customers. Consequently, there were no records within the scope of these 

two branches. 

Nevertheless, the court proceeded to analyze Shutler's proprietary2 and burdensomeness 

objections. Again, the court recognized that Kahle's express reason for obtaining the items listed 

in its subpoena was to make direct contact with Shutler's customers regarding alleged infestations 

2lIiexplicably, Kahle's analyzes this issue in terms ofa "trade secret." Petitioner's Brief, at 25-27. The 
court, however, found the information to be confidential and proprietary in nature. JA 151. 
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despite the lack of any proof. When coupled with the customer list and other identifying 

information fr6m the first two branches, the subpoena as a whole would require disclosure of 

protected information and would also interfere with Kahle's business relationships with its 

customers. JA 151-52. 

II. The Circuit Court Acted Appropriately In Making A Fee Award Under Rule 45 

The circuit court awarded attorney fees to Shutler under Rule 45(d)(1), which imposes an 

affirmative duty on the issuing party to "take reasonable steps to avoid imposing undue burden or 

expense on a person subject to the subpoena." Specifically, the court found that Kahle's 

arguments were "speculative" and "baseless," and that Shutler incurred fees and costs in resisting 

the subpoena and obtaining appropriate relief. JA 153. Kahle's argues the court erred in making 

a fee award. 

A. 	 Shutler did not waive its objections 

As addressed previously in part I(A), Shutler timely filed its objections and its motion to 

quash. Furthermore, Shutler did not engage in any conduct that would constitute a waiver of its 

right to object to the subpoena or to seek fees under Rule 45( d)(1 ). 

B. 	 The circuit court correctly found that a subpoena was not proper where Kahle's 
was attempting to obtain confidential documents and its relevancy arguments were, 
at best, "speculative" 

Next, Kahle's repeats its argument that the subpoena was "proper" and, therefore, the court 

erred by making a fee award. Petitioner's Brief, at 30. However, the court specifichlly found

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